1959

# State of Utah v. Danny Glispy and James Hallam : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendants Danny Glispy and James Hallam were charged in the Fourth District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah, with the crime of rape, allegedly committed on the 27th day of August, 1958, in Utah County, Utah, as follows, to-wit:

"That they, the said Danny Glispy and James Hallam at the time and place aforesaid, did then and there wilfully, unlawfully and feloniously, with force and violence, ravish and carnally know and have sexual intercourse with Hermer Linda Martinez, who was then and there not the wife of the defendants Danny Glispy and James Hallam, and without her consent and against her will and resistance, and overcoming her resistance with force and violence." (R. 6). To the charge contained in the information each defendant entered a plea of "Not Guilty", and the case was set to be tried before a jury on February 2, 1959 (R. 9). At the conclusion of the trial on February 3, 1959, the jury was unable to reach a verdict and the case was ordered reset for a new trial (R. 14). At the conclusion of the second trial on May 4, 1959, the jury returned a verdict as to each defendant of "Guilty of rape as charged", (R. 23; R. 24; R. 63), and on May 22, 1959 the trial judge sentenced each defendant to confinement in the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term of not less than 10 years (R. 64). Notice of appeal as to each defendant from such verdict and judgment was filed on May 29, 1959 (R. 56) and the matter is now before the Court.

Upon the trial of the case the State called as witnesses Dr. A. L. Curtis (Tr. 4), Hermer Linda Martinez (Tr. 10), Rosalie Kinser Dudley (Tr. 40), Marcia Hallam Rowley

(Tr. 45), and Truman Hood (Tr. 50). The defendants called as witnesses James Hallam, one of the defendants (Tr. 55), Bruce White (Tr. 81) and John S. Niemiec (Tr. 84).

From the evidence introduced it appears without substantial conflict that on or about the 27th of August, 1958, in the evening of that day, the defendant Danny Glispy was driving a Nash Automobile belonging to his mother-in-law, and that he had with him the defendant James Hallam, Rosalie Kinser (now Rosalie Dudley), and Marsha Hallam (now Marsha Rowley), and that after seeing the complaining witness, Hermer Linda Martinez at the Payson carnival they picked her up in said Automobile in the vicinity of her home in Payson (Tr. 14; 41; 46;) and went for a ride up Payson Canyon. Miss Martinez fixed the time of their leaving for the Canyon at fifteen or twenty minutes after eight (Tr. 15); Rosalie Kinser at "around 8:30 or 9:00 o'clock" (Tr. 41); Marcia Hallam at "around 9:00 o'clock" (Tr. 46) and defendant Hallam at "right around nine o'clock" (Tr. 56). With defendant Glispy driving they rode up Payson Canyon for about five miles to Walker Flat where they stayed for about fifteen minutes (Tr. 16, 17, 42, 46, 56), and then they drove back down the Canyon for a distance of some two miles and stopped again on the side of the road where Rosalie Kinser and Marsha Hallam got out of the car and walked back up the road a short distance to "use the bathroom" (Tr. 20, 43, 47, 57).

At this point the testimony of Miss Martinez, the complaining witness, diverges substantially from the other witnesses. She testified that after the other two girls had gone back up the road, the defendants forced her to remain in the car (Tr. 21), put the back of the right front

seat into a reclining position (Tr. 23), proceeded to hold her down while taking her pedal pushers and pants off (Tr. 24, 25), and then first defendant Hallam and then defendant Glispy, while threatening her, forceably had intercourse with her over her violent protests and objections (Tr. 26, 27). She further testified that she was restrained by the defendants in the car while the above activity took place "for about an hour" (Tr. 33), and on cross-examination she stated that during all of such time she was kicking, cursing and yelling loudly (Tr. 36).

The other witnesses for the State, Rosalie Kinser and Marcia Hallam testified concerning this second stop to the effect that they got out of the car and went back up the road for a short distance to "use the bathroom" (Tr. 43 and 47); that they were at all times in view of the car; (Tr. 43 and 47); that they were gone from the car for only five minutes (Tr. 43 and 47); that they heard no noises coming from the car while they were gone, and if someone had yelled or screamed in the car they would easily have heard it (Tr. 43, 45, 47). Defendant Hallam testified relative to this period that when the two girls left the car, the two defendants started "messaging around a little bit" with the complaining witness (Tr. 57), and when she started to resist by kicking and hollering they immediately stopped (Tr. 58). On cross-examination defendant Hallam testified that in "messaging around" with the complaining witness he felt her breasts and that as they tried to get her pants down a little ways she called them names, started fighting and kicking and hollering so they immediately quit (Tr. 73-74), and he testified that neither of the defendants had anymore to do with the complaining witness (Tr. 66).

The complaining witness further testified on direct examination that after the other two girls came back to the car, she had a conversation with them concerning what had supposedly happened in the car (Tr. 33), but on cross-examination she admitted that she did not even mention to either of the other girls anything about what she claimed happened in their absence (Tr. 37). Witness for the State, Rosalie Kinser, further testified that when she returned to the car she did not notice anything unusual about the actions of the complaining witness (Tr. 44), although the complaining witness testified she was crying and very upset (Tr. 30).

All witnesses were in agreement that after leaving the second parking spot in Payson Canyon, they drove to the carnival in Payson where they separated and the complaining witness said she was going home (Tr. 35, 44, 49). Witnesses for the State, Rosalie Kinser and Marsha Hallam, testified that they arrived back at the Payson carnival at ten minutes to ten (Tr. 45 and Tr. 49).

The complaining witness testified further that as she was walking home from the carnival she was picked up by one Bill Hood (Tr. 35) who gave her a ride to Santaquin (Tr. 35), and that on the way back she first told Hood what had supposedly happened to her earlier in the evening (Tr. 35), and he thereupon took her home and then to the Police Station (Tr. 36) from where she was taken to the office of Dr. A. L. Curtis for a physical examination at about 11:30 p. m.

Truman Hood was called by the State and he testified that he first saw the complaining witness about 10:30 p. m. on the day in question as she was crying and staggering down the street (Tr. 51); that he took her for a ride to



Santaquin and on the way back the complaining witness first told him of what supposedly happened to her up Payson Canyon (Tr. 53). Hood then testified that the only unusual things he noticed about the complaining witness when he picked her up was a torn blouse and that she was more quiet than usual (Tr. 53, 54).

Dr. A. L. Curtis testified for the State that he examined the complaining witness around midnight of the day in question (Tr. 4), completing the examination at 12:30 a. m. (Tr. 8), and that he found blood, and spermatozoa in her vagina and evidence of a recent tear of the hymen of complaining witness (Tr. 6). Over objection of counsel for the defendants, Dr. Curtis was permitted by the Court to testify that an intact hymen normally indicates a person who is a virgin (Tr. 6). Dr. Curtis further testified that in his opinion the damage to the female organs of the complaining witness occurred within one or two hours of her examination (Tr. 7).

Other than the defendant Hallam, the only witnesses called on behalf of the defendants were Bruce White and John S. Niemiec, police officers of Salt Lake City, Utah, who testified that on or about the 14th day of September, 1958, the complaining witness stated to them that the two boys at Payson who had been charged with raping her had not actually made any penetration (Tr. 83 and Tr. 86).

At the conclusion of the evidence, defendants filed a written request that the Court instruct the jury to return a verdict of "not guilty" as to each defendant on the basis that as a matter of law the evidence produced by the State was not sufficient to support a conviction for rape. The Trial Court refused to so instruct the jury (R. 41, 42), and the defendants took due exception to this refusal (Tr. 89).

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING WITNESS FOR THE STATE, DR. A. L. CURTIS, TO TESTIFY THAT RESULTS OF HIS EXAMINATION INDICATED THAT PRIOR TO THE DAY IN QUESTION THE COMPLAINING WITNESS HAD BEEN A VIRGIN.

### POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANTS REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NUMBER 1 TO THE JURY DIRECTING THE JURY TO RETURN A VERDICT OF "NOT GUILTY" AS TO EACH DEFENDANT.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING WITNESS FOR THE STATE, DR. A. L. CURTIS, TO TESTIFY THAT RESULTS OF HIS EXAMINATION INDICATED THAT PRIOR TO THE DAY IN QUESTION THE COMPLAINING WITNESS HAD BEEN A VIRGIN.

The general rule is that in prosecutions for rape by force and without consent, evidence of the prior chastity of the prosecutrix is inadmissible as a substantive defense (44 American Jurisprudence 958). The Utah Supreme Court so held in the case of *State vs. Scott* 188 P. 860, and also in the case of *State vs. Jameson* 134 P. 2d, 173, a carnal knowledge case, approved an instruction of the trial court to the effect "that the chastity or lack of chastity of

the prosecutrix is immaterial in the offense with which defendant was charged”.

Defendants submit that if such evidence is inadmissible as a substantive defense, it is likewise immaterial and inadmissible when offered by the State in a forceable rape case. Testimony indicating the prior virginity of the complaining witness, in this case a fifteen year old girl, could have no other effect upon the jury than to excite passion and prejudice against the defendants in the minds of the jurors and the failure of the trial court to exclude such testimony over the objection of counsel for the defendants could likewise have no other effect upon the jury than to make it appear that the virginity of the prosecuting witness was a material part of the case. Such a result is even more likely as a consequence of the way in which such testimony was elicited by counsel for the State (Tr. 6). Dr. Curtis had testified as to what physical facts his examination of the complaining witness had revealed with no reference specifically to her virginity or non-virginity when the following occurred: (Tr. 6) Question by Mr. Frazier, attorney for the State: “Now does a hymen which is intact normally indicate a person who is a virgin?” Mr. Christenson, attorney for the defendant: “We object to that as being immaterial”. The Court: “He may answer”. Answer by Dr. Curtis: “Yes”. Question: “and you say in this case the hymen had been torn?” Answer “Yes”.

Defendants contend that such testimony was clearly inadmissible, no question of the reputation of the complaining witness being involved, and the failure of the Trial Court to exclude such testimony was highly prejudicial to the defendants and precluded them from having a fair trial in this matter.

## POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANTS REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NUMBER 1 TO THE JURY DIRECTING THE JURY TO RETURN A VERDICT OF "NOT GUILTY" AS TO EACH DEFENDANT.

The defendants did not file a motion for a new trial in the instant case, but it is their contention that the question of the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the verdict of the jury is properly before this Court. Defendants strongly contend that the evidence does not sustain the verdict of the jury as a matter of law.

Section 77-37-4, Utah Code Annotated, reads as follows:

"When written requests to charge have been presented and given modified or refused, the questions presented in such requests need not be excepted to or embodied in the bill of exceptions, but such written requests to charge, with the endorsements thereon showing the action of the Court, form part of the record, and any error in the decision of the Court thereon may be taken advantage of on appeal in the same manner as if presented in a bill of exceptions."

This Court further said in the case of Law vs. Smith, 98 P. 300:

"If the trial Court has passed upon a matter in the course of a trial and an exception is taken or is given by the statute, the ruling or decision made by the trial court, if assigned as error, is before this court for review on appeal."

During the course of the trial the defendants did submit written requests for instructions to the jury, number

1 of which and which was refused by the trial Court, reads as follows (R. 41, 42):

"You are instructed that there has not been sufficient evidence produced by the State to support a conviction of the defendants, or either of them, and you are therefore directed to return a verdict of "not guilty" as to each defendant."

Exception to the trial Court's refusal to give such instruction was taken by the defendants (Tr. 89).

This Court held in the case of State vs. Laub, 131 P. 2d 805, that:

"It is not our province on appeal to judge the credibility of witness when their testimony is in direct conflict. We are concerned only with the question of the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the conviction by showing that the jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendants were guilty."

However, in the case at hand conflicts in testimony exist not only between some witnesses for the State and those for the defendants, but two of the State's own witnesses directly contradict much of the critical testimony of the complaining witness relative to the commission of the alleged crime.

The Court said in the case of Schlatter vs. McCarthy, 196 P. 2d 968:

"Generally, a party who calls a witness vouches for his veracity and cannot afterwards impeach such witness, either by testimony of an impeaching witness or by argument to the jury and he may not argue to the jury that such witness is unworthy of belief."

Certain exceptions to the above rule do exist, such as when the witness is called as an adverse witness or when a calling party is surprised by the unexpected testimony of the witness, but in this case the State did not call Marcia Hallam and Rosalie Kinser as adverse witnesses nor claim them to be so, nor could the State, or did it, claim surprise as to their testimony since the State was fully aware of what their testimony was, having heard both testify substantially the same at the first trial of the case.

In respect of the time when the alleged attack occurred, the complaining witness testified that she was held in the car against her will by the defendants for about an hour (Tr. 33), while the other two girls were absent from the car. On the other hand, witnesses for the State Rosalie Kinser and Marsha Hallam, each testified that they were away from the car for only five minutes (Tr. 43, 47). The complaining witness testified that all during the time she was held in the car by the defendants she was kicking, cursing, and yelling loudly (Tr. 36), while the two girls called as witnesses by the State testified that they were only a short distance from the car, only 30 paces away, according to Marcia Hallam (Tr. 47), always in view of the car (Tr. 43), and yet they saw no commotion, nor heard any shouting or yelling from the car and that had there been such a ruckus as the complaining witness described, they would have heard it (Tr. 45, 47). Complaining witness testified that when she was finally let out of the car by the defendants she was crying and couldn't calm down (Tr. 30), yet State's witness Rosalie Kinser observed nothing unusual about the complaining witness at the time (Tr. 44). Complaining witness testified on direct examination that when the defendants let her out of the car she talked

with the other two girls about what had happened to her (Tr. 32, 33), which was denied by the other two witnesses for the State (Tr. 44, 48), but on cross-examination the complaining witness admitted that she had said nothing to the other two girls regarding what supposedly happened to her in the car (Tr. 37),

There is no conflict in the testimony with respect to the time the occupants of the car arrived back at the carnival in Payson, both State witnesses Marcia Hallam and Rosalie Kinser fixing such time at ten minutes to ten (Tr. 45, 49), so it is clear that if the complaining witness was attacked by the defendants, as she claims, such attack would have had to occur at least several minutes prior to the ten minutes to ten, since it would have taken some time to walk around up the canyon after the attack as complaining witness claimed she did (Tr. 31, 32), and to have driven back down the Canyon to the Payson carnival. In view of this evidence offered by the State, it is clear that considerably more than two hours elapsed between the time of the alleged attack and the time at midnight when the complaining witness was examined by Dr. Curtis (Tr. 4), who stated that the physical injuries to her would have had to occur within one or two hours.

In view of these substantial conflicts of testimony among the various witnesses called by the State as to what happened in respect to much of the critical evidence in the case, defendants earnestly contend that the jury as a matter of law could not reasonably have found that there was no reasonable doubt about the guilt of the defendants. In order to find as they did the jury had to disregard almost the entire testimony of two of the witnesses called by the State, the veracity of whom the State vouched for by

calling them to the stand. This is not a case where the Supreme Court is called upon to judge the credibility of witnesses for the State as compared to those for the defense, something which it has said it will not do, but it is rather a case where to sustain the verdict of the jury, the Court must, as the jury obviously did, make a selection from among witnesses for the State to find evidence to support a conviction and thereby disregard equally competent testimony from other State witnesses, which testimony at least gives rise to a very grave doubt as to the guilt of the defendants, and all without extending any credibility to the testimony offered by the defendants.

The complaining witness doubtless had intercourse with someone on the night in question, but to say that the evidence produced by the State, as much in conflict within itself as it was, could justify the jury in finding beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendants were guilty of rape, does great violence to the idea of justice.

### CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the defendants earnestly assert that they were denied a fair trial in the Court below by reason of the admission of testimony respecting the prior virginity of the complaining witness, which testimony was wholly immaterial and was calculated to and doubtless did incite prejudice in the minds of the jury against the defendants. They further assert that, even without considering the evidence produced by the defendants as to their innocence, the evidence produced by the State was so much in conflict with itself, the jury could not as a matter of law reasonably have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendants



were guilty of rape. Consequently the verdict of the jury below and the judgment thereupon should be reversed.