1959

# State of Utah v. Danny Glispy and James Hallam : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent does not dispute the statement of facts set forth in appellant's brief, except that Dr. A. C. Curtis began his examination of prosecutrix at 11 o'clock. (T-5)

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING A DOCTOR TO TESTIFY THAT HIS EXAMINATION INDICATED THE COMPLAINING WITNESS HAD BEEN A VIRGIN PRIOR TO THE TIME OF THE EXAMINATION.

## POINT II.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANTS' REQUESTED INSTRUCTION DIRECTING THE JURY TO RETURN A NOT GUILTY VERDICT.

## POINT III.

EVEN IF THE COURT DID ERR AS URGED IN APPELLANTS' POINTS I AND II, SAID ERROR WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL.

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING A DOCTOR TO TESTIFY THAT HIS EXAMINATION INDICATED THE COMPLAINING WITNESS HAD BEEN A VIRGIN PRIOR TO THE TIME OF THE EXAMINATION.

Here the exact question objected to by appellants is as follows: "Now does a hymen which is intact normally indicate a person who is a virgin?" Over appellants' objections, the question was allowed and was answered "Yes."

At the time of making his objection, counsel for appellants claimed it was "immaterial." In his brief he now claims that the only effect of the question and answer was to excite passion and prejudice in the minds of the jury.

Respondent does not believe that the question was asked in an attempt to excite passion and prejudice, nor

that such was its result. It did not stand by itself, but instead was asked in a context which included other questions, the intent and effect of which were only to show that the prosecutrix had recently experienced sexual penetration.

The transcript of testimony, beginning at line 28 of page 5, and continuing to line 16 of page 6, reads as follows:

“Q Would you tell us what you observed, Doctor, which led you to believe that she had had intercourse?

A Yes. On the examination table she was put in a good position where we could make an examination of her female organs and we found the perineum covered with blood and mucus and serum, and by opening the lips of the vagina we could see the hymen, and the hymen had been torn, and it was recently torn because the tears were fresh and they were still bleeding.

Q Now does a hymen which is intact normally indicate a person who is a virgin?

MR. CHRISTENSON: We object to that as being immaterial?

THE COURT: He may answer.

A Yes.

Q And you say in this case the hymen had been torn?

A Yes.

Q And there was blood on it?

A Yes?”

As is readily seen, the fact of sexual penetration necessarily had to be proven in order to establish that rape had occurred, since it is a necessary element of the crime.

So, properly, the District Attorney asked the doctor how, from his own observation, he came to believe that intercourse had taken place. In his answer (at line 1, page 6 of the transcript), he testified to his examination of the prosecutrix' female organs, one of his observations being that the hymen had been torn and that tears were fresh and still bleeding.

It was a logical and normal thing at this point for the District Attorney to ask the question to which appellants object since some members of the jury might not have known, had the doctor not so stated, that an intact hymen is an indication of a woman who has not experienced sexual penetration, and by the same token that a torn hymen indicates the possibility, at least, of one whose organs have been penetrated sexually.

It is difficult to imagine how the jury could have become inflamed with passion and prejudice upon hearing this scientific question and its answer when it had not already become so upon hearing the preceding question and the gruesome details in the doctor's answer, a question, incidentally, which was not objected to by appellants.

Respondent believes the question about the hymen was in all regards proper, and that it was asked only in an effort to give the jury an understanding of female physiology sufficient to enable it properly to render its verdict. Respondent does not believe that it aroused pas-

sion and prejudice in the minds of the jury, particularly in light of the other questions in the context of which it was asked.

The first sentence of appellants' first point states: "The general rule is that in prosecutions for rape by force and without consent, evidence of the prior chastity of the prosecutrix is inadmissible as a substantive defense \* \* \*." Respondent believes that the word "chastity" was used in error and that the word properly should have been "unchastity." (44 Am. Jur. 958)

The text cited by appellants on page 7 of their brief and the Scott case deal entirely with attempts by defendants to show unchastity on the part of the prosecutrix. Here, quite to the contrary, her chastity was shown. It is a fair assumption that a 15-year-old girl who has been raped was, up to that time, a virgin, testimony to the contrary being inadmissible, and the proof of the assumed fact certainly is not prejudicial to the defendant.

Finally, even if error did occur, respondent does not believe it was prejudicial, under all the circumstances.

## POINT II.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANTS' REQUESTED INSTRUCTION DIRECTING THE JURY TO RETURN A NOT GUILTY VERDICT.

Respondent cannot understand how appellants seriously can urge that evidence in the record was not such that the jury could properly bring in a verdict of guilty.



True, there was some conflict, particularly as to circumstantial or inconsequential matters in the testimony of the three girls, all of whom were called to the stand by the State. However, the existence of such conflict did not in any way preclude the jury from giving full credit to the testimony of the prosecutrix while at the same time disregarding or discounting testimony of the State's other witnesses in conflict therewith.

The State's case could have rested entirely upon the testimony of a single witness, the prosecutrix, and there was no absolute necessity for the testimony of the other girls at all, nor was the jury obligated to believe what they said.

The Utah case of *Seybold v. Union Pacific Railroad Company*, 239 P2d. 174, 121 Utah 61, states that in this way:

“\* \* \* After referring to a variety of methods of phrasing the rule and a great many authorities he [Wigmore] concludes the section with this: ‘Perhaps the best statement of the test is: Are there facts in evidence which if unanswered would justify men of ordinary reason and fairness in affirming the question which the plaintiff is bound to maintain.’

“We approve the rule thus stated by Mr. Wigmore. If there is any substantial competent evidence upon which a jury acting fairly and reasonably could make the finding, it should stand.”

Here the prosecutrix stated clearly and simply that she had been raped by the defendants. This was the important thing. In addition her further testimony was such as to

show an opportunity as to time and place for the performance of the acts.

As a matter of fact, the testimony of the other two girls to the effect that they were gone from the car for perhaps five minutes would not, in and of itself, even if believed, necessarily eliminate the possibility of rape, since the act could have been accomplished within such a time period. The estimate of the girls at best was only a guess and this, of course, was taken into consideration by the jury.

Obviously the same period of time would seem much shorter to the two others who were off in the canyon "going to the bathroom," than to the prosecutrix fearfully engaged in fighting off two men trying to rape her.

Interestingly, even defendant Hallam estimated the time at ten minutes (T-58).

One of the other two girls called by the State was a sister of one of the defendants. (T-45). The jury had the right, said relationship having been placed in evidence, to consider the same, and to evaluate her testimony in the light thereof. The interest or bias of a witness, or the absence thereof, should always be considered as affecting the weight of his testimony.

Appellants rely somewhat on *Schlatter v. McCarthy*, 196 P.2d 968, 113 U. 543, and quote the following statement from that case:

"Generally a party who calls a witness vouches for his veracity and cannot afterwards impeach such witness, either by testimony of an impeach-

ing witness or by argument to the jury and he may not argue to the jury that such witness is unworthy of belief."

Here, however, the State is not attempting to impeach any of the witnesses even though they did give somewhat contradictory testimony on minor points.

The Schlatter case goes on, however, in some detail to point out that a party is not bound by everything stated by his witness. The actual language of the court, occurring on page 975, is as follows:

"\* \* \* But a party is not bound by every statement that his witness makes, and he may, by testimony of other witnesses and in argument to the jury, show that the facts were different from those testified to by the witness. This is permitted, not for the purpose of impeaching the witness (although it may have that incidental effect), but for establishing the true facts. It would be a monstrous rule that would bind a party to every statement of every witness produced by him. It is common experience that several eye-witnesses to an occurrence will have different versions of the same transaction. A party who calls several eye-witnesses is entitled to argue before the jury that they should believe the facts to be as testified to by the witness most favorable to him. This is not an attack upon the veracity of the other witnesses called by him whose testimony may be different in some respects from that of others, but merely an attempt to convince the jury that the facts are really as contended by him. \* \* \*"

As to the ultimate question, that is, whether or not sexual penetration occurred, only the prosecutrix, of the

three women, was in any position to know, since the seat of the automobile was lowered, (T-62) and since the other two women were at least 30 steps away from the car in the dark. (T-47).

The only really important question was, did appellants commit unlawful sexual acts with the prosecutrix or did they not? The question of the amount of time available for the perpetration of the act is not of grave consequence. This is not a matter of circumstantial evidence alone, as to the commission of the act, but instead is one of direct testimony by the person best able to know the facts.

At page 12 of appellants' brief, they claim that considerably more than two hours elapsed between the time of the alleged attack and the time when the complaining witness was examined by Dr. Curtis, who stated that her injuries in his opinion had occurred within one or two hours previously. Appellant says this is so because the evidence indicated the parties arrived back in Payson before ten minutes to 10:00 p.m. and that the attack must have occurred prior to this time.

It is submitted that appellant is in error in setting midnight as the time of the examination, since it is clearly set forth on page 5 of the transcript at lines 4 through 7 that the examination began at 11:00 o'clock.

Thus, even assuming Dr. Curtis' opinion as to the two hours was correct, the attack still could have taken place as early as 9:00 o'clock and been within his estimate, since while the transcript is not specific on the point, it is likely Dr. Curtis' estimate of the time of the attack

was made with reference to the time of beginning of the examination—or 11:00 o'clock.

It is interesting to note that while the other girls said they did not hear prosecutrix yell and scream (T. 43, 45, 47) as she claims to have done (T-36), Defendant Hallam himself testified that prosecutrix “started kicking and hollering” (T-73) when he tried to pull her pants down.

On appeal the courts are reluctant, of course, to overrule findings of fact made by juries. This rule has been stated and restated time and time again. In a recent Utah case entitled *Cottrell v. Grand Union Tea Co.*, 299 P.2d 622, 5 U.2d 187, decided in 1956, the court, speaking through Justice Crockett, said:

“This case having been tried to a jury, they were the exclusive judges of the evidence and of the inferences to be drawn therefrom. It was not the privilege of the court to disagree with and overrule their action unless the evidence so unerringly pointed to a contrary conclusion that there existed no reasonable basis for the jury’s finding. This court has many times affirmed commitment to a policy of reluctance to interfere with findings of fact and verdicts rendered by juries, and has declared that it should be done only when the matter is so clear as to be free from doubt \* \* \*.”

### POINT III.

EVEN IF THE COURT DID ERR AS URGED IN APPELLANTS’ POINTS I AND II, SAID ERROR WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL.

One good statement of the court’s general attitude in this regard is that taken from the case of *State v. Neal*, 262 P.2d 756, 1 U.2d 122:

“We are also conscious of the fact that a trial in the courts of this state is a proceeding in the interest of justice to determine the guilt or innocence of the accused, and not just a game. We will not reverse criminal cases for mere error or irregularity. It is only where there has been error which is both substantial and prejudicial to the rights of the accused that a reversal is warranted. The defendant was entitled to a full and fair presentation of the case to a jury of unbiased citizens and to have his rights safeguarded by competent counsel.”

### CONCLUSION

The Court did not err in permitting a doctor to testify that his examination indicated the complaining witness had been a virgin prior to the time of the examination, nor did it err in denying appellants' requested instruction directing the jury to return a not guilty verdict.

If, however, error was committed in either regard, such error was not prejudicial to the substantive rights of the appellants and therefore their appeal should be dismissed and an order issued affirming the decision of the Trial Court.